
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 24TH JULY, 2018 AT 9.30 AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday, 13 July 2018

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
24 July 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 11
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2018.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. MOTOR NUERON DISEASE (MND) CHARTER 12 - 20
Report of Executive Member Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

9. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 21 - 43
Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member Strategy & Governance, 
Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.

10. LOCAL ENERGY EAST STRATEGY 44 - 47
Report of Executive Member for Growth & Commercialisation, Councillor 
Adrian Stasiak.

11. COMMUNITY RESERVE POTENTIAL PROJECTS To Follow
Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance 
& Transformation, and Executive Member for Place.



Cabinet
24 July 2018

Page(s)
herewith

12. ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 48 - 52
To note the minutes of the meeting of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits 
Partnership Joint Committee held on the 26 June 2018.

13. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 4 
September 2018 at 10.00am at Carnegie Rooms, Cage Lane, Thetford IP24 
2EA.
There will be an opportunity for the members of the public to ask questions 
of Cabinet members from 9.30am to 10:00am.

14. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED  

15. PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL MINUTE 53 - 56
To confirm the restricted minute from the meeting held on the 12 June 
2018.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 12 June 2018 at 10.00 am in
Attleborough Town Council, Town Hall, Queens Square, Attleborough, Norfolk, NR17 

2AF

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin

In Attendance
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By

55/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2018, together with the restricted 
minutes, were confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 

56/18 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Nunn and Webb.

57/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

58/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

59/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, M Chapman-Allen, Joel and Martin.  The Vice-Chairman 

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
12 June 2018

2

Action By

welcomed members of the public in attendance.

60/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Vice-Chairman shared the news that Cliff Jordan had sadly passed away 
after a short period of illness.  He was a Norfolk man, who did a lot of work for 
Breckland in particular, and encouraged local democracy through all tiers of 
local government.  He would be sadly missed.  

61/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Large Match Funding Application - Parochial Church Council of the 
Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford  

The Executive Member for Place explained that the application outlined 
how the church would like to carry out a range of works within the church 
hall and the church to expand its use to allow more community functions 
within the buildings.  It would include providing a fully equipped kitchen to 
allow a range of food related services such as providing meals during 
school holidays for children who receive free meals during term time, and 
provision of a soup kitchen for the homeless.

Councillor Martin queried that funding had been secured from a number of 
charities, and asked that as the building was a community asset of Thetford 
Town Council why there was no mention of a contribution from them.  

Councillor Robinson spoke as a member of the Thetford Town Council and 
was not aware of an application being received, but encouraged the 
applicant to put one forward.

Options
1) Fully fund the application set out in the report
2) Part fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme. This is project which 
although being delivered by a church is strongly focused on delivering 
community activity and benefit. The project appears to be well planned and 
led, and fundraising is well advanced. The project also responds well to the 
identified needs in Thetford. The assessor gave some consideration to the 
potential for overlap between this project and the recently funded project at 
the Charles Burrell Centre to increase opportunities for work experience. 
However the assessor concluded that the Thetford PCC’s focus on catering 
training means that this project is complementary to the Charles Burrell 
project.

RESOLVED that the grant award of £19,817 (or 8.1% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to the Parochial Church Council of the 
Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford to update facilities to make the church 
more suitable for community activities be approved.

 (b) Large Grant Funding Application - Holme Hale Playing Field trust  

The Executive Member for Place presented the report and pointed out how 

6



Cabinet
12 June 2018

3

Action By

the Playing Field Trust had consulted with local residents about the 
projects.  The contribution was sought towards the cost of upgrading 
equipment on the playing field.

Options
1) Fully fund the application set out in the report
2) Part fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

RESOLVED that the grant award of £7,500 (or 29.5% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to the Holme Hale Playing Field Trust to 
update play facilities in the village be approved.

62/18 DATA PROTECTION POLICY 

The Executive Member for Governance reminded members of the work that 
had taken place to prepare the Council for the introduction of the General 
Data Protection Regulation that took effect from 25 May 2018.

One of the key changes was the requirement for ‘accountability’ which was a 
duty to evidence compliance.  An important part of meeting that obligation 
was to have clear policies and procedures in place.  The draft Data Protection 
Policy was appended to the report together with two procedures; one for 
dealing with breaches of data protection and the other for dealing with 
requests from data subjects to exercise their rights.

The policy made it clear that it applied to the employees and members of the 
Council.  A query had been raised about the fact that Members were currently 
required by the Information Commissioner to be registered as data 
controllers.  The Executive Member for Governance had asked the Executive 
Manager for Governance to investigate this point with other authorities and 
the Local Government Association.

He asked Members to approve the current draft policy and to note that as 
queries were resolved and further guidance was received there would be the 
need to make changes to the policy and asked for delegated authority to the 
Executive Manager for Governance, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Governance to make such amendments as required.

Options
1) Approve the Policy and Procedures as written
2) Approve the Policy and Procedures with amendments
3) Do nothing.

Reasons
Approval would ensure that the Council had a fit-for-purpose Policy to assist 
in compliance with GDPR.

RESOLVED that: 
1) The new draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure 

and Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests be approved 
and adopted.

7



Cabinet
12 June 2018

4

Action By

2) That the Shared Executive Manager and Data Protection Officer be 
authorised, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Governance, to make amendments to the Policy and Procedures so 
far as is necessary to reflect legislative changes, emerging guidance 
and to incorporate links to other relevant documents.

63/18 FINANCIAL OUT-TURN 2017-18 

The Executive Member for Finance explained that variances were outlined in 
the report and said that the revenue account was in a healthy position.

He commended the recommendations to Members and asked that £1.7m be 
carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in progress.

Councillor Borrett congratulated the Finance team on producing a balanced 
budget particularly in the difficult financial climate.

Options
1) That the report and appendix be noted and that Cabinet recommends 

to Full Council that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of 
£1,694,731 be carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in 
progress.

2) That the report and appendix be noted and that changes are made 
before recommending to Full Council that the capital budgets (& 
associated funding sources) be carried forward into 2018-19 to 
support projects in progress.

Reasons
1) To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial 

position of the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities 
where necessary.

2) To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new 
financial year.

RESOLVED that:
1) That the report and appendix be noted.

RECOMMEND to Full Council:

2) that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,694,731 be 
carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in progress be approved;

3) that the final capital out-turn and funding for 2017-18 as detailed in 
appendix B be approved.

64/18 Q4 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation presented the report which had recently been to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission.  He was pleased to report that Quarter four 
performance had been assessed as ‘good’.

8



Cabinet
12 June 2018

5

Action By

The areas of improvement included the number of complaints upheld or 
partially upheld was slightly over target at 28% in the reporting period 
however this was an improvement from the previous quarter.  The 
commercial property occupancy rates had fallen under 90% and work was 
being undertaken to seek alternatives to allow commercial return to be 
achieved.

Members noted the content of the report.

65/18 COMMUNITY RESERVE PROTOCOL 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation outlined that Members agreed the establishment of a 
Community Reserve to support projects and initiatives in Breckland.  The 
fund had been generated by the removal of the Council’s reliance on the New 
Homes Bonus from the general fund.  The report outlined the protocol on how 
the funds could be allocated and the criteria that would be used to deliver the 
benefits to the community.  

Members were asked to note that £250,000 would be ring-fenced to allow 
ongoing investment of the Market Town Initiative.

The report outlined the parameters for how the community reserve would be 
spent, rather than specific projects or initiatives.  Members were asked that 
any proposals for initiatives should be submitted to the relevant Executive 
Director by 22 June.

Councillor Borrett supported the idea and added that Breckland had a history 
of investing in the community in order to produce a good return for the 
Council and increase the attractiveness of the area which members 
represent.  

The Executive Member for Finance suggested that it could be an opportunity 
for Members to consider how rural communities accessed health facilities. 

Options
1) Do nothing 

2) Agree the protocols around what the newly established Community 
Reserve can be used for as set out in this report. 

Reasons
By utilising the Community Reserve as set out in the report would bring 
significant benefits to both the Council and the residents. It would enable the 
council to invest in its community in a sustainable way that would bring long 
term financial benefits through either additional income or cost reduction. It 
would benefit residents by improving skills and income levels across the 
district.

The Council had already made the decision to establish the Community 
Reserve. The budget for 2018-19 had made a provision that the money would 
be spent and Council Tax rates had been set taking this into account. By not 
spending the reserve the Council would have in affect set its Council tax rates 
too high.

9



Cabinet
12 June 2018

6

Action By

RESOLVED that:

1) The protocols around how the Community Reserve could be used as set 
out in the report be approved.

RECOMMEND to full Council:

2) The sum of £250,000 be ring-fenced from the Community Reserve to be 
used by the Market Town Initiative and this to be agreed  in line with the 
Council’s Financial Regulations.

66/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 24 July at 9.30am in the 
Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham were noted.

67/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

68/18 BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

Members were updated on the annual performance of the partnership with 
Land Group LLP that delivered property development schemes on council 
owned property assets.

Options
1) Cabinet recommends to Council to approve the updated Breckland 

Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2018-2023 as set out in appendices A to 
D.

2) Cabinet does not recommend to Council to approve the updated 
Breckland Bridge Ltd initial Business Plan for 2017-2022 as set out in 
appendices A to D. 

Reasons
Overall performance of activity is good.  The Riverside project is now 
complete having started in 2015 and reaching completion in October 2016.  
Breckland Bridge Ltd successfully delivered this scheme on time and as per 
the authorised budget.  The second project, Mileham Phase 1 houses are 
constructed and all sold or under offer and the scheme is reporting a surplus 
overall.  The third project in Attleborough has achieved planning permission 
and is planned for delivery within the first five year period of the partnership.  
All project activity is due to complete by 2019 and therefore within the first 5 
year period of the partnership as planned.

Subject to the risks identified which continue to be monitored the overall 
return to the Council is still positive in terms of regeneration and financial 
outturn.  

RESOLVED to Recommend to full Council to approve the updated 
Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2018 - 2023.

10



Cabinet
12 June 2018

7

Action By

69/18 INTER AUTHORITY AGREEMENT – WASTE SERVICES 

Members were asked to consider approving the key terms of a draft 
agreement that needed to be in place between the three authorities that were 
participating in a joint procurement, and to grant delegated authority to the 
Executive Director for Strategy and Governance (in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Place) to approve any final 
amendments, complete the agreement, and to commission legal support and 
subsequently approve further documents related to the procurement.

Options
1) Proceed with the joint procurement but do not approve the IAA. 

2) Do not proceed with the joint procurement and do not approve the 
IAA.

3) Proceed with the procurement and approve the IAA.

Reasons
To enable the procurement to proceed jointly with the three Authorities.

It was RESOLVED that  Members approved the recommendations as set out 
in the report to approve the key provisions of the Inter-Authority Agreement, 
allocate funds for the commissioning of legal support and grant the necessary 
delegations (in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Executive Member 
for Place) to approve contractual and procurement documents.

The meeting closed at 10.55 am

CHAIRMAN

11



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place and Rob Walker, Executive 
Director Place

To: Cabinet 24th July 2018

Author: Steve James, Communities & Environmental Services Manager 

Subject: Motor Neuron Disease (MND) Charter 

Purpose: To consider whether the Council wishes to show its support by signing the
Motor Neuron Disease Charter.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Council demonstrates its support for local people affected by Motor Neurone Disease 
by signing the MND Charter.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   The MND (Motor Neurone Disease) Association is the only charity for MND in England,
Wales and Northern Ireland and relies on voluntary donations. It dedicates a higher   
proportion of its income to MND-specific research than any other organisation.

1.2 It provides information and support service, financial grants and equipment loan service 
for people affected by the disease.

1.3 About Motor Neurone Disease:

• MND is a fatal, neurological disease for which there is no effective treatment and no   
cure.

• MND kills five people in the UK every day.
• Today there are 5,000 people living with MND in the UK
• Life expectancy from diagnosis is two to five years
• It can affect any adult at any age
• Being trapped inside a body that cannot move is the devastating reality of MND
• MND attacks the nerves that control movement; people with MND can still think and feel, 
but their muscles refuse to work. As these nerves die the muscles weaken and waste, 
leaving people locked in a failing body, unable to move, walk or talk

1.4 More information on the work of the MND Association can be found at   
www.mndassociation.org

2.0 THE MND CHARTER

2.1 The MND Charter aims to gain support from individuals and organisations with a personal 
or professional connection to MND, in working towards the vision of the right care, in the 
right place, at the right time for people with MND and their carers.

2.2 Anyone can sign up to the MND charter. By doing so, they are showing that they have   
listened to the voice of people with MND and their carers, and pledge to understand and

12

Agenda Item 8



  support the principles and priorities set out in the charter.

2.3 The five-point Charter sets out the care and support people with MND and their families                 
need to maximise their quality of life and die with dignity. The five points are:

1) People with MND have the right to an early diagnosis and information
2) People with MND have the right to access quality care and treatments
3) People with MND have the right to be treated as individuals and with dignity and       

respect
4) People with MND have the right to maximise their quality of life
5) Carers of people with MND have the right to be valued, respected, listened to and well      

supported.

2.4 The Charter is attached at Appendix A to this report and has been adopted already by   
Broadland Council, Norwich City Council and South Norfolk Council.

   
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Members are asked to demonstrate their support for local people affected by MND by 
signing the MND Charter.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

4.1   Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

The five-point Charter sets out the care and support people with MND and their families 
need to maximise their quality of life and die with dignity.

4.2         Health & Wellbeing

The Charter sets out to improve the physical and emotional wellbeing of people with MND   
and their families 

5.0         WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

5.1         All ward/communities could potentially be affected.

6.0 ACRONYMS 

6.1    MND – Motor Neuron Disease

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve James, Communities & Environmental Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656306
Email: Stephen.james@breckland.gov.uk

13

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A MND Charter

14



themndcharter
Achieving quality of life, dignity and respect for people with MND and their carers

15



The MND Charter is a statement of the respect,  
care and support that people living with motor 
neurone disease (MND) and their carers deserve,  
and should expect.

We believe that everyone with a connection 
to MND, either personally or professionally, 
should recognise and respect the rights of 
people with MND as set out in the Charter, 
and work towards the Charter’s vision of the 
right care, in the right place at the right time.

About MND:
●   MND is a fatal, rapidly progressing 

disease that affects the brain and  
spinal cord.

●   It can leave people locked in a failing 
body, unable to move, talk and 
eventually breathe.

●   A person’s lifetime risk of developing 
MND is up to one in 300.

●   It kills around 30% of people within 12 
months of diagnosis, more than 50% 
within two years.

●   It affects people from all communities.

●   It has no cure.

Therefore, what matters most is that people 
with MND receive a rapid response to their 
needs and good quality care and support, 
ensuring the highest quality of life as 
possible and the ability to die with dignity. 
The MND Charter serves as a tool to help 
make this happen. 

MND is a devastating, complex disease and 
particularly difficult to manage. We believe 
that if we get care right for MND we can get 
it right for other neurological conditions, 
and save public services money in the long 
run. But more importantly, we can make 
a positive difference to the lives of people 
with MND, their carers and their loved ones.

16



1

2

People with MND have the right to an early diagnosis 
and information 
● An early referral to a neurologist.
● An accurate and early diagnosis, given sensitively.
● Timely and appropriate access to information at all stages of their condition.

There is no diagnostic test for MND – it can only 
be diagnosed by ruling out other neurological 
conditions. People with MND can be halfway through 
their illness before they receive a firm diagnosis.

GPs need to be able to identify the symptoms and 
signs of a neurological problem and refer directly to 
a neurologist in order to speed up diagnosis times 
for MND. 

Appropriate tests must be carried out as soon as 
possible to confirm MND. The diagnosis should be 
given by a consultant neurologist with knowledge 

and experience of treating people with MND1. The 
diagnosis should be given sensitively, in private, 
with the person with MND accompanied by a family 
member/friend and with time to ask questions. A 
follow-up appointment with the neurologist should 
be arranged soon after diagnosis.

At diagnosis people with MND should be offered 
access to appropriate information and should be 
informed about the MND Association. Appropriate 
information should be available at all stages of the 
person’s condition in a language of their choice.

People with MND have the right to high quality care 
and treatments 
● Access to co-ordinated multidisciplinary care managed by a specialist key 

worker with experience of MND.
● Early access to specialist palliative care in a setting of their choice, including 

equitable access to hospices.
● Access to appropriate respiratory and nutritional management and support, as 

close to home as possible. 
● Access to the drug riluzole.
● Timely access to NHS continuing healthcare when needed.
● Early referral to social care services. 
● Referral for cognitive assessment, where appropriate.

People with MND may need care provided by health 
and social care professionals from up to 20 disciplines.  
This clearly needs co-ordination to work effectively. 
Co-ordinated care can improve the quality of life 
of people with MND and provide value for money 
for the NHS by preventing crises and emergency 
hospital admissions. The care should be co-ordinated 
by a specialist key worker with experience of MND 
who can anticipate needs and ensure they are met 
on time. Ongoing education for health and social 

care professionals is important to reflect advances in 
healthcare techniques and changes in best practice. 

A third of people with MND die within 12 months 
of diagnosis. Early access to specialist palliative care2 
soon after diagnosis is therefore vital and should be 
available in a setting of the person’s choice. Some 
hospices give preferential access to people with a 
cancer diagnosis. It is important that access is based 
on need, not diagnosis, so that people with MND 
have equitable access to hospice care. Hospices can 

This MeaNs:

This MeaNs:

17



3
People with MND have the right to be treated  
as individuals and with dignity and respect
● Being offered a personal care plan to specify what care and support  

they need.
● Being offered the opportunity to develop an Advance Care Plan to ensure 

their wishes are met, and appropriate end-of-life care is provided in their 
chosen setting. 

● Getting support to help them make the right choices to meet their needs when 
using personalised care options. 

● Prompt access to appropriate communication support and aids. 
● Opportunities to be involved in research if they so wish.

Everyone with MND should be offered a personal care 
plan3 to specify what care and support they need. 
The plan should be regularly reviewed as the disease 
progresses and the person’s needs change.

People with MND should be offered the opportunity 
to develop an Advance Care Plan4 to make clear their 
wishes for future care and support, including any 
care they do not wish to receive. The plan should 
be developed with support from a professional with 
specialist experience and may include preferences for 
end-of-life care.

Some people with MND will need support to help 
them make the right choices to meet their needs 
when using personalised care options, such as 
personal budgets.

As the disease progresses, some people with MND 
will experience difficulty speaking. It is important 

that people with MND can access speech and 
language therapy to help them maintain their voice 
for as long as possible. However, as the disease 
progresses, people with MND may need access to 
communication aids including augmentative and 
alternative communication (AAC)5. The ability to 
communicate is a basic human right. For people 
with MND, communication support and equipment 
are vital in order to remain socially active and to 
communicate their wishes about their care, especially 
during hospital stays and other medical environments. 

Many people with MND value the opportunity to 
be involved in research as it provides hope that 
one day an effective treatment will be developed. 
Everyone with MND who wishes to should be able to 
participate in research as far as is practicable. 

This MeaNs:

provide high-quality respite care, which can benefit 
both the person with MND and their carer. 

As MND progresses, the respiratory muscles and 
muscles of the mouth and throat may be affected. 
People with MND may therefore need respiratory 
and nutritional support. It is important that these 
services are available as close to the person’s home as 
possible so that travelling is minimised and support is 
available quickly.

In 2001 the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) recommended riluzole as a cost-
effective drug for people with MND. GPs can be 
reluctant to prescribe riluzole on cost grounds, 
despite its NICE-approved status, or to monitor for 

side effects during its use. However, it is vital that 
people with MND have ongoing access to this 
important treatment.

As the disease progresses, people with MND may 
need more intensive health care. It is important 
that people with MND have timely access to NHS 
continuing healthcare when they need it.

People with MND are likely to need help with getting 
up, washing, dressing and preparing food as the 
disease progresses. Access to social care services 
is therefore important to maintain quality of life. 
People with MND may also need access to cognitive 
assessment, as up to half of people with the disease 
experience changes in cognition.

18



1 Recomendation in the NICE guideline on MND.

2 Specialist palliative care – palliative care is the active holistic care of patients with progressive illness, including the provision of psychological, 
social and spiritual support. The aim is to provide the highest quality of life possible for patients and their families. Specialist palliative care is care 
provided by a specialist multidisciplinary palliative care team.

3 Personal care plan – a plan which sets out the care and treatment necessary to meet a person’s needs, preferences and goals of care. 

4 Advance care plan – a plan which anticipates how a person’s condition may affect them in the future and, if they wish, set on record choices 
about their care and treatment and/or an advance decision to refuse a treatment in specific circumstances so that these can be referred to 
by those responsible for their care or treatment (whether professional staff or family carers) in the event that they lose capacity to decide or 
communicate their decision when their condition progresses.

5 Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) – is used to describe the different methods that can be used to help people with speech 
difficulties communicate with others. These methods can be used as an alternative to speech or to supplement it. AAC may include unaided 
systems such as signing and gesture as well as aided systems such as low tech picture or letter charts through to complex computer technology. 

4
People with MND have the right to maximise their 
quality of life 
● Timely and appropriate access to equipment, home adaptations, 

environmental controls, wheelchairs, orthotics and suitable housing.
● Timely and appropriate access to disability benefits.

People with MND may find their needs change 
quickly and in order to maximise their quality of life, 
they may need rapid access to equipment, home 
adaptations, wheelchairs and suitable housing. These 
needs should be anticipated so that they are met in 
a timely way. This is particularly true of wheelchairs 
which are important for maximising independence 
and quality of life.

People with MND need timely and appropriate access 
to disability benefits to help meet the extra costs of 
living with a disability. Information on appropriate 
benefits needs to be readily accessible in one place 
and easily understandable.

Carers of people with MND have the right to be 
valued, respected, listened to and well supported
● Timely and appropriate access to respite care, information, counselling and 

bereavement services.
● Advising carers that they have a legal right to a Carer’s Assessment of their 

needs1, ensuring their health and emotional well being is recognised and 
appropriate support is provided.

● Timely and appropriate access to benefits and entitlements for carers.

Caring for someone with MND is physically and 
emotionally demanding. Carers need to be supported 
in order to maintain their caring role. Every carer 
should have their needs assessed and given timely 
and appropriate access to respite care, information, 
counselling and bereavement services. It is important 
to support the emotional and physical needs of the 

carer in a timely way so that they can continue their 
caring role. 

Carers should also have timely and appropriate access 
to benefits and entitlements to help manage the 
financial impact of their caring role.

This MeaNs:

This MeaNs: 

5

19



“Many people with MND die without 
having the right care, not having a suitable 
wheelchair, not having the support  
to communicate. 

We have got to set a standard so that 
people like us are listened to and treated 
with the respect and dignity we deserve. 

We have got to stop the ignorance surrounding this disease and 
have to make sure that when a patient is first diagnosed with MND, 
they must have access to good, co-ordinated care and services. 

One week waiting for an assessment or a piece of equipment is like 
a year in most people’s lives, because they are an everyday essential 
to help us live as normal a life as possible and die with dignity”

Liam Dwyer, who is living with MND

© MND Association 2016

MND Association
PO Box 246 Northampton NN1 2PR
www.mndassociation.org

Registered charity no 294354

We are proud to have the following organisations supporting  
the MND Charter:

Royal College of General Practitioners

Association of British Neurologists

Royal College of Nursing

Chartered Society of Physiotherapy

College of Occupational Therapists

Royal College of Speech & Language Therapists 

British Dietetic Association

For more information:
www.mndassociation.org/mndcharter
Email: campaigns@mndassociation.org 
Telephone: 020 7250 8447

20



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Chapman-Allen - Deputy Leader, Executive Member Strategy & 
Governance

To: Cabinet, 24th July 2018

Author: Charlotte Paine, Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Subject: Risk Management Policy 

Purpose: To present the revised draft of the Council’s risk management policy to the 
Cabinet for adoption.

Recommendation: 

1) That the Cabinet adopt the Risk Management Policy following agreement by Governance 
and Audit Committee in June 2018.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Over the past two years Governance and Audit Committee has provided guidance on a 
number of changes to the way that the council manages and monitors risk. These 
changes have included: -

i. The adoption of a 5x5 risk matrix scoring grid for measuring the impact and 
likelihood of risks.

ii. The adoption of the use of risk targets or risk appetite to help identify the level of 
acceptable risk that the Council is prepare to work within. This is an important 
measure to ensure that the Council is not inhibiting innovation by being excessively 
risk adverse.

iii. Amendments to the format of the Council’s Corporate Risk Register to make the 
ongoing management of risk clear. This has included the direction of travel 
compared to previous reporting periods and the original unmitigated risk score.

1.2 These changes have been developed iteratively over the past two years and adopted into 
the working practices of how the Council manages risk. As a result of this approach it would 
now be prudent to revise the Council’s formal risk management policy to ensure that it 
reflects these good practice amendments.

1.3 Appendix A of this document sets out the draft Risk Management Policy for the Cabinet to 
approve adoption following feedback provided in December 2017 and February 2018 and 
agreement in June 2018 from Governance and Audit Committee. 

1.4 This policy does not make any change from how the Council is currently approaching risk 
management, it is simply seeking to formally adopt the current working practices of the 
Council into the policy.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Cabinet to approve adoption of the Policy.

21

Agenda Item 9



2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 This report is seeking for the Cabinet to approve adoption of the policy. The draft policy is 
seeking to formally adopt the working practices implemented over the last two years 
through the guidance of the Governance and Audit Committee.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By formal adopting the current working practices relating to how the Council approaches 
risk management it will ensure that there is a robust framework to work within. This 
framework will provide assurance that risks are appropriately managed but do not inhibit 
innovation.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The constitution sets out the legal requirement for the Council to have a formal approach to 
how it manages risk. The constitution delegates power to the Governance and Audit 
Committee to monitor strategic risks.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 A robust yet flexible approach to risk management is fundamental to enabling the Council 
achieving its corporate priorities as set out in the Council’s corporate plan

5.3 Financial

5.3.1 The risk management policy will influence how the Council manages its financial 
requirements in an appropriate way.

5.4 Reputation 

5.4.1 The risk management policy helps identify potential impacts on the Council’s reputation and 
helps to mitigate these by the adoption of controls to reduce or prevent their impact.

5.5 Risk Management 

5.5.1 The risk management policy sets out the approach to how the Council manages risk 
throughout all aspects of its business. 

5.6 Consultation

22



5.6.1 The risk management policy has undergone consultation through the Governance and 
Audit committee

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 NA

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NA

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer
Telephone Number: 07870 835233
Email: charlotte.panie@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Draft Risk Management Policy

23

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:charlotte.panie@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Page 1 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

RISK

MANAGEMENT

FRAMEWORK

Date of Policy: July 2018

Author: Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement & 
Performance Manager

Document Status Draft 3
Next Review Date: January 2020

24



Page 2 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3
25



Page 3 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

Table of Contents

Number Heading        Page  
                    
1.  Introduction ................................................................................................................4

2.  Background ................................................................................................................4

3.                       Definition .....................................................................................................................5

4.                       Organisation ...............................................................................................................5

5.                       Arrangements ............................................................................................................6

6.                       Corporate Governance .............................................................................................8

7.  Leadership and Responsibility ................................................................................8

8.  Training .......................................................................................................................8

9.  Resourcing Risk Management ................................................................................9

10. Role of the Performance, Risk and Audit Board ..................................................9

11. Risk Management Role in the Governance and Audit Committee ...................9

12. Risk Identification ...................................................................................................10

13. Involvement of Other Related Groups.................................................................10

14. External Contacts ...................................................................................................10

15. Partnerships ............................................................................................................11

16. Methodology ...........................................................................................................11

17. Risk Appetite (Targets)..........................................................................................12

18. Risk Management Approach ................................................................................12

19. Reviews ...................................................................................................................12

Appendix One   Shared Leadership – Role and Responsibilities ............................................13

Appendix Two   Risk Scoring Maxtrix and Criteria...................................................................16

26



Page 4 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

1. Introduction

The fundamental principles adopted by the Council on Risk Management are 
described in the policy statement and procedure as set out in this document. 
Adopting and implementing the framework detailed will achieve compliance 
with the policy.

2. Background

Councils face a wide variety of risks including physical risks to people or 
property, financial loss, failure of service delivery, information management 
and damage to reputation. Risk for this purpose is defined as "the possibility 
of an event occurring that will have an impact on the achievement of 
objectives, reputation, or service delivery".

Good risk management is a key tool in assisting a Council to manage 
uncertainty in order to enable it to better achieve its corporate objectives. Risk 
management is intended to be a planned and systematic approach to the 
identification, assessment and management of the risks facing the Council. It 
is essential that steps are taken to effectively manage those risks. Risk 
management supports innovative solutions as it carefully considers the 
benefits, alongside the risks, that may occur.  

The traditional means of protecting against the more obvious risks has been 
through insurance.  However, there are many risks which cannot be insured 
against and which must be addressed in different ways. Even in the case of 
those risks which are insurable, action should be taken to reduce the potential 
risks with consequent savings of premiums and disruption of work.

27



Page 5 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

Policy Statement

3. Definition 

We define risk as the possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact 
on the achievement of objectives, reputation, or service delivery.  
The appraisal and management of risk will be part of our business planning, 
project management and change management process as well as how we 
effectively manage our working partnerships.
It is the responsibility of every officer and elected member to take an active 
role in the identification and appropriate management of risk across the 
Council.
We will use risk management to promote innovation as well as to help secure 
our objectives. This will be achieved through the appropriate use of risk 
appetites.

4. Organisation
This risk management strategy will be subject to endorsement by the 
Governance and Audit Committee. 
The Director of Strategy and Governance is responsible for risk management.  
The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team (CIP) will support the 
Director of Strategy and Governance in assessing risks likely to have a 
significant impact on the achievement of the Council’s objectives. 
All officers and elected members in Breckland are responsible for risk 
management and the breakdown of responsibilities are detailed further in 
Appendix One. Some of those responsibilities include: 

 All officers must be aware of their roles and responsibilities in risk 
management.

 All Senior Managers will implement risk management within their 
service.

 Risk assessments will be carried out as a routine part of service 
planning and management activities.

 The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team are to be 
notified of any significant changes or if a risk materialises to enable 
them to ensure that appropriate and adequate mitigations are in place 
and recorded. 

 The Director of Strategy and Governance and the Director of Growth 
and Commercialisation are to be informed if financing measures are 
required to be put in place.

 A risk culture will be built across the department that does not inhibit 
the Council in continuing to be innovative.

28



Page 6 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

 Key risks to service objectives, projects, partnerships and change 
management processes under their control are identified, recorded 
and managed on the Council’s performance management system.

 Those risks that have a corporate impact are to be considered for 
inclusion in the Strategic Risk Register.

The Director of Strategy and Governance is responsible for coordinating the 
Council’s approach to risk management. The Corporate Improvement and 
Performance Team is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of this risk 
management strategy and for reviewing compliance with controls introduced 
to manage risks.
The process seeks to contribute to the Council’s emerging three lines of 
defence approach to assurance. In this model Risk Management would be 
recognised as a second line of defence and would contribute towards the 
Council’s overall levels of assurance.  
The Institute of Internal Auditors and the Institute of Directors endorse the 
'Three Lines of Defence' model as a way of explaining the relationship 
between Council functions and as a guide to how responsibilities should be 
divided:

 the first line of defence – functions that own and manage risk

 the second line of defence – functions that oversee or specialise in risk 
management, compliance

 the third line of defence – functions that provide independent 
assurance, above all internal audit.

29



Page 7 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

5. Arrangements

Reports to Committees will include an appraisal of all associated risks and 
their implications.

Corporate risks will be identified and:

 assessed for likelihood and impact

 mitigating controls identified and recorded

 allocated a responsible officer for the mitigating controls

 cost implications of controls considered

Risk Management training will be provided to senior managers with the aim of 
ensuring that they have the skills necessary to identify, appraise and control 
the risks associated with the services they provide. elected members will 
receive training on risk so that they can consider the implications of risk in 
their work for the Council.

Every partnership, project team or change management team will appraise 
strategic and operational risks and make provision for dealing with those risks 
appropriately. This will be done in a way that does not prevent innovation or 
opportunity, such as income generation. An example of this would be 
ensuring that the purchase of commercial property is not inhibited due to any 
perceived aversion to risk.   

30



Page 8 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

Procedure

6. Corporate Governance

Effective risk management is an essential element of good corporate 
governance which, in turn, supports effective decision making and ultimately 
contributes to improved performance and providing assurance.

The risk management framework aims to:

 clarify responsibilities for identifying and managing risks
 ensure that an appropriate level of risk management is consistently 

applied across the Council
 increase awareness and use of risk management as a normal element of 

service management and improvement
 facilitate sharing of experience and good practice across the Council
 act as a second line of defence in the Council’s three lines of defence 

assurance model
 embed the concept of risk management in the Council and ensure that 

accurate and relevant statements are made in the Annual Governance 
Statement

7. Leadership and Responsibility

Given the diversity of Council services and the wide range of potential risks, it 
is essential that responsibility for identifying and taking action to address 
potential risks is clear. 

Responsibility for effective risk management rests with every officer and 
elected member of the Council.

The Chief Executive Officer is the officer with overall responsibility for 
ensuring adherence to the Council’s policy on Risk Management. 

The framework of roles and responsibilities in Appendix One shows how 
these are allocated. 

8. Training

Individual officers and members will have different needs and these can be 
met with different methods.  These will include appropriate awareness raising 
sessions as well as more formal training. External providers will be identified 
to deliver specific training and, where appropriate, in house training will be 
used.

31



Page 9 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

9. Resourcing Risk Management

Risk management is not a new issue and every member and officer is 
responsible for considering risk implications as they relate to the actions of 
their day to day work. However, it is recognised that the concept of risk 
management needs to become formalised and part and parcel of the culture 
of the Council. 

At Executive Management Team level, the Director of Strategy and 
Governance is the designated risk champion.

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will be the link for all 
aspects of risk management.

10. Role of the Performance, Risk and Audit Board

Whilst acknowledging the wide variety of risks that face the Council, and the 
differing circumstances that apply in different services, it is essential that there 
is some consistency in the way that risks are identified and assessed. This 
helps to ensure that all areas of risk are adequately considered and relative 
priorities for action can be judged.

The Performance, Risk and Audit Board will provide this consistency of 
approach. The Board will act as a link between project managers, specialised 
groups dealing with particular areas of risk, senior management and elected 
members. The Board will review updates on both corporate and operational 
risks on a quarterly basis and take any remedial actions necessary; including 
escalation to the Executive Management Team and the Governance and 
Audit Committee as appropriate.

Quarterly updates on the Strategic Risk Register will be provided to the 
Executive Management Team and the Governance and Audit Committee.

11. Risk Management Role in the Governance and Audit Committee

The Governance and Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
arrangements in place for the identification, monitoring and management of 
strategic risk.

To provide the Governance and Audit Committee with the necessary 
information to undertake these responsibilities, progress updates on the 
Strategic Risk Register are reported quarterly at Governance and Audit 
Committee meetings.

32



Page 10 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

12. Risk Identification

To meet the requirements of this framework, risks must be capable of being 
identified at any level, and by anybody, within the Council. 

All officers will be responsible for identifying risks and ensuring that these are 
recorded and managed through the Council’s corporate performance system. 
Service managers and team leaders will have overall responsibility for 
ensuring that all risks relating to their service area are identified, recorded, 
mitigated and managed. These will include key risks to service objectives, 
projects, partnerships and change management processes under their service 
area. 

Service/Operational risks will be included as an agenda item on Performance, 
Risk and Audit Board meetings quarterly. The purpose of this is to review 
whether any further mitigation is required, whether additions, deletions or any 
other changes need to be made. Where an operational risk retains a high risk 
score despite mitigation for three quarterly reporting periods it will be 
escalated to become a strategic risk.

Any risk can, if appropriate, be escalated to being a strategic risk through the 
Director of Strategy & Governance, Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Team and the Executive Management Team.

The Strategic Risk Register will be reviewed on a quarterly basis and updated 
to reflect any changes to the risks currently included and to include any new 
risks identified. Currently reported strategic risks which are identified as 
needing to be changed to operational or no longer a risk as fully mitigated, will 
be removed from the strategic register following the report to the Governance 
and Audit Committee that advises of the decision to demote or remove.

13. Involvement of Other Related Groups

The Council’s Internal Audit function, as the third line of defence, also 
contribute to the management of risk. The work of Internal Audit is based on a 
needs and risk assessment process that identifies and focuses resources on 
higher risk areas. Audit findings are reported to the relevant Director and 
Senior Manager together with recommendations for improvement and an 
action plan. Checks are undertaken by Internal Audit and the Corporate 
Improvement & Performance Team to ensure agreed recommendations are 
implemented.

14. External Contacts

The potential risks faced by the Council are, in many cases, similar to those 
faced by other authorities and it is practical and cost effective to learn from the 
experience of others. In order to share risk management information and 
experiences, the Council has established networks with other authorities and 

33



Page 11 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

agencies. 

15. Partnerships

A Partnership Policy is available and outlines the Council’s approach to 
assessing risks for partnerships. The policy explains the steps that should be 
taken to assess risks before the decision is made to enter into a partnership 
and also how to undertake ongoing monitoring of risk once a partnership has 
been established. The matrix for partnership risks is set out in appendix two of 
this document.

16. Methodology

A methodology for identifying, assessing and managing risk within the Council 
has been developed. This methodology has the advantage of being relatively 
straightforward to use and can be applied to both the strategic risks of the 
Council and as part of the routine service, project planning and change 
management processes (operational risks). 

Once a risk has been identified it is essential to determine the level of impact 
and likelihood. The impact and likelihood criteria are set out in Appendix 2.

The Strategic Risk Register is held by the Corporate Improvement and 
Performance Team and published through the Council’s corporate 
performance system. The format of the register is as below:

Title Description
Original 
Score Controls/ 

Mitigation

Current 
Risk 

Score
Impact Likeli- 

hood

Trend 
(last 
quarter)

Latest 
Note

Latest 
Update 
Date

Target 
Impact

Target 
Likeli-
hood

The table below sets out an explanation of each of the fields contained within 
the Corporate Risk register: -

Title Title of Risk
Description Description of the risk before mitigation
Original score This is the original risk score (Impact x Likelihood)
Controls/Mitigation This is the mitigating actions and controls put in place to 

reduce the risk
Current Risk Score This is the risk score at the present time with the mitigations 

included
Impact This is the current risk impact score (see Appendix 2)
Likelihood This is the current risk Likelihood score (see Appendix 2)
Trend (last quarter) This highlights the direction of travel compared to the 

previous quarter
Latest Note This provides details on latest actions taken
Latest Update Date This is the date the latest update was provided
Target Impact This is the target impact score that the Council has deemed 

to be acceptable for this risk (see Appendix 2)
Target Likelihood This is the target likelihood score that the Council has 

34



Page 12 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

deemed to be acceptable for this risk (see Appendix 2)

17. Risk Appetite (Targets)

Risk appetite refers to the Council’s attitude towards risk, which in turn 
dictates the amount of risk that it considers acceptable. As a result, risk 
appetite refers to our willingness to tolerate a particular level of exposure to 
specific risks. The appetite is also a function of our capacity to bear risk which 
should not be exceeded.

18. Risk Management Approach

The development of a consistent corporate approach to risk management 
needs to be done in a methodical and proportionate way in order to avoid the 
creation of a self-defeating bureaucratic burden.

To ensure that risk management is handled in the most efficient way within 
the Council, risk is included as part of the corporate planning process and the 
Council’s performance framework to ensure the quick identification emerging 
risks and changes to identified risks.

The following chart (from bottom up) shows how a risk could be identified and 
escalated:

Strategic Risk Register Executive Management Team 
↑

Service/Operational Risk Register Service Manager adds via CIP
↑

Evaluate and decide action Service Manager
↑

Risk identified All Officers & Elected Members

19. Reviews

The Framework will be reviewed by the Governance and Audit Committee on 
an 18 month basis and published on the Breckland intranet and internet. The 
Strategic Risk Register will be reviewed by the Executive Management Team 
on a quarterly basis and the Governance and Audit Committee a minimum of 
every three months and published through the Council’s corporate 
performance system.

35



Page 13 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

APPENDIX ONE     

Shared Leadership – Role and Responsibilities

Everyone has a role to play in an integrated risk management framework. 
Combining shared leadership with a team approach will help contribute to its 
ultimate success. Roles identified at present are:

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

Responsibilities include:

 Approving the Risk Management Framework which includes the Risk 
Management Policy and Strategy.

 Providing proactive leadership and direction on Risk Management 
Governance issues and champion Risk Management throughout the 
Council.

 Receiving progress reports on the Strategic Risk Register at least 
quarterly.

 Monitoring that an adequate risk management framework and 
associated control environment is in place.

 Monitoring arrangements for the identification, monitoring and 
management of strategic risks within the Council

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Responsibilities include:

 Promoting Risk Management and its benefits throughout the Council.

 Overall responsibility for securing adherence to the Council’s Policy on 
Risk Management.

 Appointing a Director to take responsibility for risk management.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM (EMT)

Responsibilities include:

 Considering risks attached to proposals for new / changing policies and 
service delivery arrangements.

 Ensuring that this framework is applied throughout all areas of the 
Council.

36



Page 14 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

 Receiving progress reports on the risk reduction programme and 
propose revisions to the Strategic Risk Register.

 Supporting the Director of Strategy and Governance in assessing risks 
likely to have a significant impact on the achievement of the Council’s 
objectives.  

DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY AND GOVERNANCE

Responsibilities include:

 Assessing risks likely to have a significant impact on the achievement 
of the Council’s objectives.

 Coordinating the Council’s approach to risk management. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Responsibilities include:

 Implementing risk management within their services.

 Identifying, recording and managing key risks to service objectives, 
project, partnership and change management processes under their 
control are identified.

 Ensuring their managers carry out risk assessments as a routine part 
of service planning and management activities.

 Ensuring any risks that have a corporate impact are reported for 
consideration for inclusion in Strategic Risk Register.

 Building a risk aware culture across the department, through all 
officers.

CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT AND PERFORMANCE TEAM

Responsibilities include:

 Monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of this risk 
management strategy and for reviewing compliance with controls 
introduced to manage risks.

 Coordinating risk management activity across the Council.

 Reporting on risk management activity to EMT and members.

 Maintaining a corporate strategic risk register and liaise with Service 
Managers relating to operational risks.

37



Page 15 of 20                                                                                                                 May DraftV3

 Providing risk management training for officers and elected members, 
appropriate to their needs and responsibilities.

 Providing advice and assistance as required.

 Reviewing the Risk Management Framework on an 18 month basis.

SENIOR MANAGERS

Responsibilities include:

 Developing action plans in relation to corporate strategic risks as they 
relate to their service area.

 Identifying risks attached to proposals for new / changed policies and 
service delivery arrangements.

 Assisting with the identification and recording of all key risks to 
services, projects, partnerships and change management processes.

ALL OFFICERS

Responsibilities include:

 Maintaining an awareness of risk management principles and take 
responsibility for identifying and managing risk within their own working 
environment.

 Applying risk management to those risks requiring further action, 
particularly new developments and project work.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit reports to management on the Council’s performance under the 
Risk Management Framework and the adequacy and effectiveness of 
systems of risk management.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

External Audit reports to Senior Management on the Council’s performance 
on risk management.

ELLECTED MEMBERS

Elected members are responsible for identifying the risks they become aware 
of in the course of their activities as members, and ensuring such risks are 
appropriately recorded.

38



Page 16 of 20                                                                                                                 January DraftV2

APPENDIX TWO

RISK SCORING CRITERIA AND MATRIX

Likelihood:

Likelihood score 1 2 3 4 5

Definition Rare Unlikely Possible Likely Almost certain

Description The likelihood 
of the risk has 
been minimised 
to a negligible 
possibility

The risk is 
technically 
possible but an 
occurrence is 
not foreseeable 
in the medium-
long term

The risk is a real 
possibility but 
the likelihood of 
an occurrence in 
the short-
medium term is 
small

The risk is 
probably going 
to occur at 
some point in 
the medium 
term, possibly 
sooner

The risk is 
probably going 
to occur 
imminently

Timeframe Will occur at 
some point in 
next 50 years

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next 25 
years

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next 10 
years

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next 5 
years

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next year

Probability 10% or less Between 10-30% Between 30-
50%

Between 50-
85%

85% or more

Where the probability and timing score differently, a judgement should be made as to the correct likelihood score.

39



Page 17 of 20                                                                                                                 January DraftV2

Impact
Strategic Risks

Impact score 1 2 3 4 5
Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical

Political risk Authority fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
decisions

No scrutiny of decisions 
takes place

Scrutiny process publicly 
questioned or criticised

Resignation of Leader, 
Cabinet Member, Chief 
Executive or Director

Authority placed in 
special measures, DCLG 
appoints administrators

Reputation risk Negative national press 
coverage for one day, 
ongoing negative local 
coverage

Negative national press 
coverage for more than 
one day, 

Negative national press 
coverage for more than one 
week, public criticism from 
local partners

Public criticism from MP, 
LGA, DCLG, County Council 
or other national body

International negative 
press coverage

Financial risk Up to 1% of authority 
budget

Up to 5% of authority 
budget

Up to 10% of authority budget Up to 15% of authority 
budget

Over 15% of authority 
budget

Legal risk Authorities’ actions’ 
legality repeatedly 
questioned in public

Council decisions 
overturned

Damages or similar claim 
sought against authority

Multiple damages claims 
sought against authority

Authority in breach of 
law, criminal charges 
brought

Disruption risk Total service outage for 
one day or less

Total service outage for 
several days

Total service outage for more 
than a week

Total service outage for 
more than three weeks

Multiple services 
unable to operate

Environmental risk Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance

Long term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to rectify

Major or widespread 
damage requiring central 
government assistance

Permanent 
environmental damage 
with significant impact

Contractual risk Major contract 
renegotiation required

Service reduction 
dictated by contractor’s 
ability to operate

Service provision significantly 
altered or sanction clauses 
invoked

Contracted service failure 
and/or termination of 
contract

Abrupt contracted 
service failure without 
contingency

Asset & Infrastructure 
risk

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement

Widespread network 
issues, key vehicle 
damaged

Council facilities inaccessible, 
key vehicle needs replacing

Council facilities damaged, 
multiple vehicles need 
replacing, key 
infrastructure outage

Council facilities 
destroyed, key 
infrastructure 
destroyed

Health and Safety risk Individual receives minor 
injuries 

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life or criminal assault

Multiple losses of life, 
widespread criminal 
assault

40



Page 18 of 20                                                                                                                 January DraftV2

Project risk impacts
Impact score 1 2 3 4 5
Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical

Political risk Residents unaware of 
authority’s actions

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions limited

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions process 
blocked

Authority fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
actions

No scrutiny of actions 
takes place

Reputation risk Increased complaints for 
less than one week

Increased complaints for 
more than one week

Negative local press 
coverage for one day, 
increased complaints for 
more than one week

Negative national press 
coverage for one day, 
ongoing negative local 
coverage

Negative national press 
coverage over several 
days. Public criticism from 
MP, LGA, County Council 
or national service body

Financial risk Up to 1% of project budget Up to 5% of project 
budget

Up to 10% of project 
budget

Up to 15% of project 
budget

Over 15% of project 
budget

Legal risk Delays due to legal 
clarifications being sought 
(<1 month)

Delays due to legal 
clarifications being sought 
(1-6 months)

Delays due to legal 
clarifications being sought 
(>6 months)

Project operations 
potentially subject to 
legal challenge, project on 
hold until resolved

Project operations 
potentially in breach of 
legislation, project 
terminated

Disruption risk Individual officers having 
work disrupted 

Multiple officers unable 
to work

Total service outage for 
one day or less

Total service outage for 
several days

Total service outage for 
more than a week

Environmental risk Immediately remedied 
damage in an isolated area

Easily remedied damage 
in an isolated area

Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to 
rectify

Major or widespread 
damage requiring central 
government assistance

Contractual risk Negative impact on key 
partner relationship

Minor contract 
renegotiation required

Major contract 
renegotiation required

Project aims or goal 
significantly altered or 
sanction clauses invoked

Project failure and/or 
termination of contract

Asset & Infrastructure 
risk

Individual pieces of 
equipment damaged or 
needing replacement

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement

Widespread network 
issues, vehicle damaged

Council properties 
inaccessible, vehicle need 
replacing

Council properties 
damaged, multiple 
vehicles need replacing, 
key infrastructure outage

Health and Safety risk People engaging in 
hazardous activities 
without awareness

Individual receives minor 
injuries 

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life

41



Page 19 of 20                                                                                                                 January DraftV2

Partnership risk impacts
Impact score 1 2 3 4 5
Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical

Political risk Residents unaware of 
partnership actions

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions limited

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions process 
blocked

Partnership fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
actions

No scrutiny of actions 
takes place

Reputation risk Increased complaints for 
less than one week

Increased complaints for 
more than one week

Negative local press 
coverage for one day, 
increased complaints for 
more than one week

Negative national press 
coverage for one day, 
ongoing negative local 
coverage

Negative national press 
coverage over several 
days. Public criticism 
from partners

Financial risk Council’s contribution 
<£15,000

Council’s contribution 
£15,000-£50,000

Council’s contribution 
£50,000-£100,000

Council’s contribution 
£100,000-£200,000

Council’s contribution 
>£200,000

Legal risk Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability <£15,000

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability £15,000-£50,000

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability £50,000-£100,000

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability £100,000-
£200,000

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability >£200,000

Disruption risk Partnership arrangements 
create delays

Partnership 
arrangements create 
minor delays

Partnership arrangements 
create significant delays

Partnership arrangements 
limit operational freedom

Partnership fails, key 
shared resources lost

Environmental risk Immediately remedied 
damage in an isolated 
area

Easily remedied damage 
in an isolated area

Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to rectify

Major or widespread 
damage requiring central 
government assistance

Contractual risk Negative impact on 
partnership relationship

Minor contract 
renegotiation required

Major contract 
renegotiation required

Partnership purpose 
significantly altered or 
sanction clauses invoked

Partnership failure 
and/or termination of 
contract

Asset & Infrastructure risk Individual pieces of 
equipment damaged or 
needing replacement

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement

Widespread network 
issues, partnership 
connections unreliable

Partnership properties 
inaccessible, online 
resources compromised

Partnership properties 
damaged, key 
infrastructure outage

Health and Safety risk People engaging in 
hazardous activities 
without awareness

Individual receives minor 
injuries 

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life

42



Page 20 of 20                                                                                                                 January DraftV2

Operational risk impacts
Impact score 1 2 3 4 5
Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical

Political risk Residents unaware of 
decision-making process

Residents’ access to 
decision-making process 
limited

Residents’ access to 
decision-making process 
blocked

Decisions not published Authority fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
decisions

Reputation risk Increased complaints 
for less than one week

Increased complaints for 
more than one week

Increased complaints in 
for other services as 
problems cause a backlog

Complaints not being 
heeded, generating 
further complaints

Negative local press 
coverage for one day, 
increased complaints for 
more than one quarter

Financial risk Up to 1% of service 
budget

Up to 5% of service 
budget

Up to 10% of service 
budget

Up to 15% of service 
budget

Over 15% of service 
budget

Legal risk Authorities’ actions’ 
legality questioned in 
public

Authorities’ actions’ 
legality repeatedly 
questioned in public

Council decisions legally 
challenged

Council decisions 
overturned

Damages or similar claim 
sought against authority

Disruption risk Individual officers 
having work disrupted 

Multiple officers unable 
to work

Total service outage for 
one day or less

Total service outage for 
several days

Total service outage for 
more than a week

Environmental risk Immediately remedied 
damage in an isolated 
area

Easily remedied damage 
in an isolated area

Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance

Long term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to 
rectify

Contractual risk Negative impact on 
supplier/client 
relationship

Minor contract 
renegotiation required

Major contract 
renegotiation required

Service reduction dictated 
by contractor’s ability to 
operate

Service provision 
significantly altered or 
sanction clauses invoked

Asset & Infrastructure risk Individual pieces of 
equipment damaged or 
needing replacement

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement

Widespread network 
issues, vehicle damaged

Council properties 
inaccessible, vehicle need 
replacing

Council properties 
damaged, multiple 
vehicles need replacing, 
key infrastructure outage

Health and Safety risk People engaging in 
hazardous activities 
without awareness

Individual receives minor 
injuries 

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life

[Risk impacts do not need to match the descriptions above exactly, the category cells’ descriptions provide examples of risks to give context to each score]

43



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation 

To: Cabinet - Tuesday, 24 July 2018 

Author: Robert Campbell, Inward Investment Manager

Subject Local Energy East Strategy

Purpose: To consider the Local Energy East Strategy for formal endorsement

Recommendation(s): 

1) That JIE consider the contents of the report and recommends formal endorsement of the 
Local Energy East Strategy by the Cabinet

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Breckland District Council has been invited by the New Anglia LEP to give formal 
consideration to the local Energy East Strategy document; a strategy that has been 
produced to support both local and regional energy issues that are prohibiting growth in the 
areas covered by the New Anglia LEP, the Cambridge and Peterborough Combined 
Authority and Hertfordshire LEPs.

1.2 The purpose of the strategy is to capture and set out activities designed to unblock current 
challenges concerning energy, alongside activities to capitalise on local energy generation, 
storage, distribution and supply opportunities. It has been funded by the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS).

1.3 All local authorities within the geography covered by the study, which includes Breckland 
Council by virtue of its membership of the New Anglia LEP, have being asked to provide 
feedback on the strategy (which we have been given), and also to consider providing 
formal endorsement to the draft strategy and its stated aims. The feedback provided will in-
turn help to shape the delivery plan for the strategy. All public sector organisations that 
endorse the strategy will be referenced within the final published document as a supporting 
partner. 

1.4 Officers have considered the strategy in detail, and have formulated some initial feedback 
on the strategy. The response provided by the authority is included within an appendix to 
this report.  

1.5 The following summarises the initial feedback provided by the authority on the strategy; 

 That the four key objectives of the strategy are appropriate, those being 1) clean 
economic growth, 2) housing growth and commercial site infrastructure, 3) secure, 
local, affordable, low carbon consumption and 4) the need to support clean transport 
networks.

44

Agenda Item 10



 Whilst there is a strong dialogue within the strategy to expand local employment 
opportunities close to the source locations of clean energy generation, we would 
suggest that more focus needs to be given to supply chain opportunities within both 
clean energy generation and in uses of clean energy.

 The draft strategy correctly identifies the likely significant increase in electric vehicle 
manufacturing which stricter emission standards will bring about but it does little to 
identify the sector growth opportunities which this could bring to the East of England. 
Bearing in mind the growing expertise in both electric motor technology and power 
control systems at the Hethel Engineering Centre, it would seem opportune to explore 
the creation of a clean automotive engineering centre, including specialised 
manufacturing, along the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor

 Whilst the strategy details the likely increase in electricity usage in the home for heating 
and car charging, we would suggest that delivery of the strategy should also 
encompass the specific opportunities for the East of England to become leaders in the 
development of underpinning technologies, especially in energy control systems and 
increased efficiency electric based heating.

 We welcome recognition of the need to support accompanying infrastructure to support 
the energy sector and would be interested to understand what further steps the LEPs 
plan to take, during the delivery phase, to add further weight to such infrastructure 
proposals.

 New Anglia’s Energy Sector Skills Strategy has identified a number of skills challenges 
in the existing energy economy.  We would suggest that those large scale energy 
producers seeking permissions to operate in the New Anglia area are ‘incentivised’ to 
make significant contributions into local training funds for this key sector.

 Whilst the strategy identifies the potential increased requirements in electricity supply 
due to electric vehicle charging and a move away from gas powered domestic heating 
towards electric heating, the focus seems to be mostly on ensuring that the grid 
coverage and capacity is sufficient to meet the likely demand.  We would suggest that 
the delivery of the strategy should include an increased focus on how the design and 
construction of new homes can be influenced to lower overall energy usage and to 
mainstream local home based energy generation and storage.

 We strongly support the strategy’s acknowledgement of the need to build a much more 
robust local electricity distribution network.

 With regard to community scale energy schemes, we would suggest that this should 
also apply to the development of new housing developments so that house builders are 
working at the cutting edge of energy distribution, usage and storage, as an integral 
part of the housing scheme designs.

 As a final point of feedback, we would encourage New Anglia LEP to fully involve Local 
Authorities at an early stage in the preparation of delivery plans relating to this key new 
strategy so that the benefits of the actions taken can be as inclusive as possible across 
the region.

45



1.6 Having considered the strategy in detail, officers are minded to recommend that the Council 
provides endorsement to the strategy and its stated aims, given its alignment with the 
authority’s own priorities relating to housing and economic growth, alongside the focus 
within the strategy in addressing issues that impact upon the growth, including power 
generation and distribution. Consequently, the recommendation contained within the report 
is that the Council should consider formal endorsement of the Local Energy East Strategy. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1: To provide formal endorse of the Local Energy East Strategy, as per the report 
recommendation. Under this option, Breckland Council will become a named signatory of 
the strategy and will provide formal endorsement. 

2.2 Option 2: Do nothing. Under this option, the Council will not provide formal support for the 
strategy. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 As set out earlier within this report, the Local Energy East Strategy is focused around a 
number of matters of relevance to the Council’s own strategic priorities, notable concerning 
housing and economic growth, alongside the focus within the strategy in addressing issues 
that impact upon the growth, including power generation and distribution. For these 
reasons, it is recommended that the Council provides formal endorsement of the strategy.

 
3.2 There is an opportunity for Breckland Council to influence the delivery of this energy 

strategy now that we have direct representation on two NA LEP boards.  We can best exert 
this influence as a named signatory of the strategy.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 It is anticipated that the Local Energy East Strategy will assist power distributors, utility 
companies and policy makers in taking steps to ensure that future energy provision in the 
East of England will be robust enough to support growth in a sustainable manner.

4.2 There is an opportunity to capitalise on the growth of clean energy technology as a driver of 
tech growth along the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

46



5.2 By maximising the amount of renewable energy used in the district, distributed through 
local, green power networks, the Carbon footprint of the district will be reduced with 
associated environmental benefits

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 The stated aims of the Local Energy East Strategy align closely with the delivery of the 
Council’s own corporate priorities, namely to ‘encourage the local economy to be vibrant 
with continued growth’.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 LEP – Local Enterprise Partnership

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Robert Campbell, Inward Investment Manager
Telephone Number 01362 656808
Email: robert.campbell@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Breckland Council Energy East Response
Appendix B Local Energy East Strategy-updated

47



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
FOREST HEATH DISTRICT COUNCIL

EAST CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
ST EDMUNDSBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
WAVENEY DISTRICT COUNCIL

SUFFOLK COASTAL DISTRICT COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP JOINT COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 26 June 2018 at 10.00 am in the
Level 5 Meeting Room, Breckland House, St Nicholas Street, Thetford  IP24 1BT

PRESENT
Mr D Ambrose Smith
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr S. Edwards
Mrs A. Hay

Mr I Houlder
Mr R Kerry (Chairman)
Mr B. Provan (Vice-Chairman)

In Attendance
Jo Andrews
Sam Anthony

- Strategic Manager (Revenues)
- Head of HR & OD (Fenland District Council)

Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 
Officer) (BDC)

Paul Corney - Head of ARP
Emma Grima - Director of Commercial Services (East 

Cambs District Council)
Homira Javadi - Chief Finance Officer S151 (Waveney & 

Suffolk Coastal)
Jill Korwin - Director (Forest Heath & St Edmundsbury)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By
15/18 CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN 

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
made it was RESOLVED that Councillor Bruce Provan be appointed as 
Chairman for the ensuing year.

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
made it was RESOLVED that Councillor Ian Houlder be appointed as Vice-
Chairman for the ensuing year.

16/18 APPOINTMENT OF TREASURER 

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
made it was RESOLVED that Breckland District Council be appointed as 
Treasurer for the ensuing year.

17/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record.

48

Agenda Item 12



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
26 June 2018

2

Action By
18/18 APOLOGIES 

None.

19/18 URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY) 

None.

20/18 DECLARATIONS 

None.

21/18 PERFORMANCE REPORT (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Highlight report  

The Strategic Manager (Revenues) presented the report and highlighted 
that Benefits performance was meeting the profiled targets and was on 
course to achieve the year end targets.

Discussions had taken place with Norfolk and Suffolk County Councils to 
support the review of single person discounts but Members were informed 
that Cambridgeshire County Council had decided not to provide further 
funding.

Revenues collections continued to meet target expectations with the 
exception of non-domestic rates collection for Waveney District Council.  
The reason was due to a refund relating to backdated mandatory charity 
relief which had already been allocated by Finance team.

Further recovery work was continuing with the team who had already 
exceeded the amount collected by £50,000 based on the same time the 
previous year.

The enforcement team had recently appointed a sixth enforcement agent 
which would provide resilience within the team.  

A review had been carried out of the resource required to deal with the 
levels of correspondence and calls received throughout the year.  As a 
result, the Operational Improvement Board had agreed to increase staffing 
by 2.5fte on a temporary basis, subject to review.
 
Members were informed that as part of the digitalisation and transformation 
project 15,000 Council Tax Payers had opted to receive their bills and 
notifications electronically rather than the traditional letter.  

Councillor Edwards asked why Cambridgeshire County Council had 
decided to no longer contribute and if it could be identified as to what the 
savings had been for Cambridgeshire versus their contribution.  Members 
were informed that a briefing note would be prepared to explain the 
generation of extra income.  

Councillor Ambrose-Smith said as a County Councillor he was not aware 
that Cambridgeshire County Council were no longer contributing, and 
asked for further information to enable him to challenge the decision.  
Councillor Hay also asked for the same information.

49



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
26 June 2018

3

Action By

Members asked to be kept informed of the discussions.

Councillor Hay asked for additional information to be captured within the 
report to include the report author, and also liked to see the currency 
symbols added to any table of figures produced.  She also asked if the 
performance figures could be shown per council, rather than a collective 
figure.  In addition, it was queried as to the number of debts the recovery 
collection referred to.  The information would be supplied by the Strategic 
Manager (Revenues).

 (b) Operational Performance - Balanced Scorecard March 2017/2018  

Members were informed that in total, four authorities were slightly over the 
8-day target for processing Council Tax Support cases, these authorities 
average processing time was below 9-days in all cases. 

Councillor Hay asked why fraud had been identified as a higher amount 
compared to previous years.  It was noted that it was a higher amount due 
to the team finding smarter ways of identifying fraud and some one-off wins 
in respect of business rates.

Where a business rates appeal was upheld it could lead to a refund dated 
back to 2010 which had an impact on the target figures.  However, Finance 
Teams calculated a provision allocated within the accounts should it be 
required.  Members felt that ARP were appearing to fail in their performance 
when in fact they had no influence over the Valuation Office decision.

The Head of ARP confirmed the Operational Improvement Board were 
considering how the performance data was reported to make it clearer and 
easier to understand for each authority involved.

Councillor Houlder asked at what point the clock started to tick with 
processing a claim as he was aware of claimants who were finding it 
difficult to contact the office during working hours.  The Head of ARP said 
the clock started to tick at the point the claimant made contact and 
customers were asked to provide the information as quickly as possible.  
Officers continued to improve the website to make it easier for the customer 
make to contact.

 (c) Operational Performance - Balanced Scorecard as at end of May 2018  

The current performance reporting to the end of May 2018 was ‘good’.  
There was an issue with the Waveney Business rates due to backdating the 
mandatory charitable relief but it was hoped it would be recovered by the 
end of the financial year.

Councillor Kerry noted that half the target for fraud had been achieved 
within the first two months of the year.  Members were informed it had been 
an exceptional two months but also the target had not been reviewed within 
the last two years but it was thought the target would be exceeded for the 
coming year.  

 (d) Financial Performance  

The Breckland Chief Accountant presented the financial performance as at 

50



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
26 June 2018

4

Action By
31 March 2018.  The committed transformation funding was at £180,529 at 
31 March 2018 and it was expected the budget would be spent by the end 
of 2018/19.  If all of the identified expenditure was achieved by end of 
2018/19 and there would be £47,928 remaining for future projects.

The efficiency target of £531,000 was fully achieved.

22/18 WELFARE REFORM UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) 

The Strategic Manager (Benefits) presented the report highlighting that the 
Universal Credit had been rolled out at the Dereham Job Centre and would 
be in Thetford during September 2018.  Universal Credit for all new claims 
would be rolled out to all DWPs within the ARP Councils by the end of the 
year.  

The Government had made an announcement that in order to manage 
migration the deadline, for cases currently receiving Housing Benefit, to move 
to Universal Credit had been extended by 12 months to March 2023.  

The Chairman asked if the 5-week wait was still an issue.  It was emphasised 
that this would always be the case, due to the length of time it took to gather 
information and process the claim.  If the claim involved rental payments, it 
could often be delayed for 8 – 13 weeks, which was causing issues.

23/18 JOINT COMMITTEE UPDATE - NEW COUNCILS' STATUS 

The Chief Finance Officer for East Suffolk, Suffolk Coastal and Waveney 
District Councils updated Members that approval had been given by 
Government in late May to abolish Forest Heath District, St Edmundsbury 
Borough, Suffolk Coastal District and Waveney District and replace them with 
two non-metropolitan districts – West Suffolk and East Suffolk.  The new 
councils would be created on 1 April 2019 ahead of the elections on 2 May 
2019.

She gave Members of the ARP Partnership assurance that measures were in 
place and operational work would not be affected.  

One aspect of change would be the governance of the Anglia Revenues 
Partnership in that the existing governance of seven partners would reduce to 
five to reflect the new partnership therefore a new partnership agreement 
would be framed and signed accordingly.

The Head of ARP added that he was content with the way in which the 
project was progressing and satisfied that everything was in place to make it 
successful, and that Members would be kept informed of the progress. 
 

24/18 SUMMARY OF 2017/18 INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ANGLIA 
REVENUES PARTNERSHIP (ARP) FOR JOINT COMMITTEE 

Michelle Emmens from East Suffolk and Kathy Woodward from Fenland 
presented to Members the report adding that it was the first year of a joint 
internal audit approach to review the ARP revenues and benefits systems by 
East Suffolk, Fenland District Council and West Suffolk Internal Audit Teams 
on behalf of the seven ARP authorities.

Out of the five areas of audit undertaken all were given the audit opinion of 

51



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
26 June 2018

5

Action By
adequate / reasonable assurance with a number of recommendations; 
progress had already been made on delivering the recommendations.  The 
Internal Audit team would continue to monitor the recommendations and 
report back to the Operational Improvement Board and each of the authorities 
Audit Committees.  They both thanked ARP for their assistance in 
approaching the audit which had been very successful.

The Head of ARP thanked the Audit teams for their work and added it 
displayed the true spirit of working in partnership.

25/18 FORTHCOMING ISSUES (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Ambrose-Smith asked when the Joint Committee could expect to 
see the new style performance reporting.  It was confirmed that the new 
format was being discussed by the Operational Improvement Board, and 
more information would be reported back to the Joint Committee as soon as 
possible.

26/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 25 September 2018 at 
10.00am, Level 5, Thetford were noted.

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

CHAIRMAN

52



Document is Restricted

53

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Motor Nueron Disease (MND) Charter
	Appendix 1 for Motor Nueron Disease (MND) Charter

	9 Risk Management Policy
	Appendix 1 for Risk Management Policy

	10 Local Energy East Strategy
	12 Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership
	Minutes

	15 Private and Confidential Minute

